IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S258212

PUBLIC GUARDIAN OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, *Petitioner and Respondent,*

v.

K. P., Objector and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Two No. B291510

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. ZE032603 Hon. Robert Harrison

Opening Brief on the Merits

Christopher Lionel Haberman (SBN # 132604) PO Box 521 Visalia, CA 93279 (559) 384-0703

fax: (559) 601-1707

habermanlaw@gmail.com

Attorney for Objector and Appellant K. P.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Must the trier of fact find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the objector is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment before a conservator may be appointed, or reappointed, under the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act (LPSA)?

INTRODUCTION

It has long been held that under the rules of statutory construction and to meet the federal and state constitutional requirements for due process, LPSA conservatorship trials (Welf. & Inst. Code¹, § 5350) should not be limited to the narrow issue of "grave disability" – whether the person is unable due to his mental illness to provide for his basic needs of food, shelter and clothing, as defined by statute. (§ 5008, subd. (h)(1).) Rather, the intent of the LPSA is to allow the jury to determine whether a conservatorship is necessary in light of all the relevant facts. (Conservatorship of Davis (1981) 124 Cal.App.3d 313, 325 (Davis); Conservatorship of Early (1983) 35 Cal.3d 244, 250 (Early). These relevant facts include whether the person is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment. This requirement is separate and distinct from the issue of grave disability.

¹ All statutory references are to the California Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

The LPSA requires that before a nondangerous mentally ill person may be involuntarily committed for evaluation or treatment for any period of time, the person must be found to suffer from a mental disorder, be gravely disabled or impaired by chronic alcoholism² and be unwilling or unable to accept services, evaluation or treatment on a voluntary basis. (§ 5150, subd. (c) [no 72-hour detention if person can be evaluated and treated without detention]; § 5152, subd. (b) [must release after 72-hours if willing and able to accept voluntary treatment]; § 5202 [requirement for court-ordered evaluation and further 72-hour hold]; § 5250, subd. (c) [requirement for 14-days after 72-hour hold]; § 5257, subd. (b)(1) [must release after 14-days if willing and able to accept voluntary treatment]; § 5270.15, subd. (a)(2) [requirement for 30-day extension after 14-day commitment]; § 5270.35, (a), (b)(1) [must release after 30-day extension if willing and able to accept voluntary treatment]; § 5352 [requirement for establishing temporary conservatorship of 30 days to 6 months prior to establishment of conservatorship]; § 5352 [requirement for seeking petition for conservatorship under § 5350].)

The person for whom involuntary commitment is sought may challenge initial commitments and extension periods of 14 days and 30 days, through administrative (§§ 5254, 5256) and/or judicial review by petition for habeas corpus (§§ 5275–5276). In those review hearings the government must justify by a preponderance of the evidence the necessity of the commitment, including that the person suffers from a grave disability and is unable or unwilling to accept treatment on a voluntary basis. The

² Chronic alcoholism is not at issue in this case.

lower standard of proof is constitutionally permissible because of the shorter period of involuntary detention and treatment. (*In re Azzarella* (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1240, 1247; *In re Lois M.* (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 1036, 1040–1041.)

The rules of statutory construction and constitutional due process require that the government prove and the trier of fact find that the proposed conservatee is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept treatment and not merely that he or she is gravely disabled to mental illness before a conservator may be appointed. (*Davis*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 325; *Conservatorship of Walker* (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 1082, 1092–1093 (*Walker*).)

While the need for shorter periods of commitment (e.g. 14 days, 30 days) may be proven by only a preponderance of the evidence (*In re Azzarella*, *supra*, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1247; *In re Lois M.*, *supra*, 214 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1040–1041), constitutional due process requires the government to prove and the trier of fact find all elements beyond a reasonable doubt before a one-year conservatorship can be established or renewed. (*Conservatorship of Roulet* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 219, 235.) This includes the statutory requirement that the proposed conservatee is unwilling or unable to voluntarily accept meaningful treatment before a conservator may be appointed. The elements of proof are not limited to the issue of "grave disability". (*Walker*, *supra*, 196 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1092–1093; *Davis*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d at pp. 319–323, 325.)

The only case standing for the proposition that the government is not required to prove that a proposed conservatee is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment is *Conservatorship of Symington* (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1464. This case was wrongly decided, and its analysis of the issues is dicta. Therefore, it may not be relied upon as precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 19, 2018, the Public Guardian of Los Angeles County petitioned for re-appointment as conservator of K.P. (appellant) under sections 5350 through 5368. (CT 205–206.) On May 5, 2018, appellant requested jury trial. (CT 217.) A three-day jury trial commenced on June 20, 2018, and on June 22, 2018, the jury found that appellant was gravely disabled. (CT 220, 230, 261; RT 1187.) The public guardian was reappointed as conservator with a termination date of June 3, 2019. (CT 231; RT 1188.) Notice of appeal was filed on July 5, 2018. (CT 262.)

Prior to the start of appellant's trial counsel filed a written motion and made a series of arguments regarding the required elements for establishing a conservatorship under section 5352. (CT 222–225; RT 1106–1109.) Counsel for K.P. noted that CACI³ Form Instruction 4000 required that the person seeking the conservatorship prove three elements beyond a reasonable doubt

Appellant requests that this court take judicial notice of California Civil Jury Instructions (CACI) at issue in this case. (Evid. Code, § 451.) Appellant is aware that "[j]ury instructions, whether published or not, are not themselves the law, and are not authority to establish legal propositions or precedent. They should not be cited as authority for legal principles." (*People v. Morales* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 34, 48 fn. 7.) Appellant presents the information on the CACI instructions for factual background and context for examination of the instructional issue.

before a conservator can be appointed.⁴ The third of those elements requires a finding that the defendant is unwilling or unable to voluntarily accept meaningful treatment. Counsel indicated that up until about a year before this trial that element was consistently given in LPS trials in Los Angeles. (RT 1106–1107.)

Defense counsel then noted that element three had been removed from the draft instructions for this case and objected, arguing that under the authority detailed in his written motion, the third element was required because he would be presenting evidence that appellant was willing to voluntarily accept treatment and his mother was willing to aid appellant. (RT 1106–1107.) Counsel further asserted that the ongoing local practice of removing element three and adding the following paragraph to CACI 4002 was not sufficient to remedy the error:

In determining whether [KP] is presently gravely disabled, you may consider whether he is unable or unwilling voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment. (CT 249.)

Counsel asserted that moving the above language from an element under CACI 4000 to an optional consideration under

12

The three elements in CACI 4000 are: "1. That [name of respondent] [has a mental disorder/is impaired by chronic alcoholism]; [and] 2. That [name of respondent] is gravely disabled as a result of the [mental disorder/chronic alcoholism][; and/.] [3. That [name of respondent] is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment.]"

CACI 4002 was insufficient because the jury was no longer required to make a finding beyond a reasonable doubt on the issue. (RT 1106–1107.)

The trial court indicated that the changes had been made in the instructions because that is what was requested by the public guardian. (RT 1108.) The court noted that published cases had discussed the issues and stated that the "public guardian is asking for the different instruction" version. (RT 1108.) Counsel for the county made no comment and the court declined to modify the instructions as drafted by the county.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Psychologist Dr. Sara Mehraban was appellant's treating psychologist at his residential care facility. (RT 1130–1131.) She met with him daily, including on the morning of her testimony, and had reviewed his background files and records. (RT 1140.) Dr. Mehraban diagnosed appellant with schizophrenia and testified that he experienced auditory hallucinations and paranoid delusions. (RT 1141–1142.) As an example, Dr. Mehraban testified that earlier that morning appellant had indicated to her that he needed to be placed in a witness protection program because he believed a patient at the facility was going to attack him. (RT 1142.) On prior occasions appellant had responded violently to perceived threats from other patients. (RT 1145.) Appellant also exhibited a variety of other symptoms of schizophrenia including disorganized behavior, lack of motivation, difficulty speaking, and lack of social interaction. (RT 1144.)

Appellant was prescribed a variety of medications for his mental illness and gave inconsistent statements to Dr. Mehraban about whether he would continue taking them if he was released from the treatment facility. (RT 1146–1147.) Dr. Mehraban opined that she did not believe appellant had sufficient insight into his condition to continue treatment if released and would not be able to provide for his food, shelter, clothing, and care without supervision. (RT 1147.) During their discussions, appellant had acknowledged to her that he had a mental illness and could identify his symptoms but did not clearly understand what was required to effectively manage his condition including the need for medication. (RT 1147–1148, 1160.)

In Dr. Mehraban's opinion appellant was unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment because he had not shown initiative in his treatment and frequently changed between stating that he wanted to continue his medication and wanted to stop taking it. (RT 1152.)

Appellant's mother testified that she believed appellant had a mental illness and was willing to help him in his care and treatment if he was not subject to a conservatorship. (RT 1120–1122.) She was previously appellant's conservator before the public guardian took over the responsibility (RT 1123) and was willing to make sure he was treated if needed at a hospital and could arrange for medical care and housing if needed. (RT 1121–1122.)

Appellant testified on his own behalf. (RT 1165.) He indicated that if his conservatorship were terminated, he was willing to stay at the facility until he could find a place to live and would continue to see a therapist or psychologist. (RT 1165–1166.)

Appellant indicated that he did not believe he had schizophrenia but rather brain trauma of some form and would not continue taking medication because he believed he was better off without it. (RT 1165–1166, 1169.) Appellant indicated that he had been hospitalized since 2013 and described an incident where he believed he was attacked by a patient. (RT 1167–1169.) Appellant planned to find an apartment and support himself through social security and being an entrepreneur. (RT 1169–1171.)

ARGUMENTS

I. The LPSA requires that the government prove a person is gravely disabled due to a mental disorder and is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment before the person can be involuntarily committed for evaluation or treatment for any period.

The LPSA provides for the involuntary detention and treatment of nondangerous mentally ill persons. This case requires harmonization of apparently conflicting statutes within the LPSA. On the one hand, prior to the establishment of a one-year conservatorship, section 5350 explicitly grants the proposed conservatee a jury or court trial on the issue of "grave disability" as defined in section 5008, subdivision (h)(1)(A):

"A condition in which a person, as a result of a mental health disorder, is unable to provide for his or her basic personal needs for food, clothing, or shelter." However, section 5350 contains no requirement that the government prove that the person for whom the conservatorship is sought is unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment.

On the other hand, multiple sections of the LPSA explicitly require that a person must be found unwilling or unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment and gravely disabled due to a mental illness before the person can be involuntarily committed to any period of treatment or evaluation.

The LPSA also requires that if a person requests administrative or judicial review of the involuntary detention, evaluation or treatment, the government must affirmatively prove that a proposed conservatee is unwilling and unable voluntarily to accept meaningful treatment before an involuntary commitment may be ordered beyond a 72-hour detention for initial assessment, evaluation, and/or treatment. Proof that the person is unwilling or unable to voluntarily accept treatment is an element that must be proven by the person seeking to impose the commitment and treatment at any stage, including a one-year conservatorship.

A. LPSA requirements for involuntary commitments

The LPSA permits involuntary commitment for evaluation and treatment of nondangerous people with mental health disorders for increasingly greater periods of time, if necessary, beginning with a 72-hour period of crisis intervention, assessment, evaluation, and treatment (§ 5150) and ending with

a renewable one-year conservatorship (§ 5350). Here are the LPSA requirements for each step in this gradual process. Consideration of these statutes are necessary to ascertain the scope and purpose of the LPSA and for this Court to analyze and harmonize the conflicting statutes.

1. 72-hour detention

When a person, as a result of a mental health disorder, is a danger to others, or to themselves, or gravely disabled, they may, upon probable cause, be taken into custody for a period up to 72 hours for assessment, evaluation, and crisis intervention, or placement for evaluation and treatment in a designated facility. (§ 5150, subd. (a).) Even in this relatively short period of detention, the person responsible for evaluation and treatment must assess the person to determine whether they can be properly served without being detained. If the person can be served without detention, then services must be offered on a voluntary basis. (§ 5150, subd. (c).)

2. Additional 72-hour court-ordered evaluation

A person may not be evaluated beyond this initial 72-hour period without an order from the superior court. (§ 5200.) Prior to filing a petition for this evaluation, the person seeking the petition must determine whether the gravely disabled person will agree to accept services voluntarily. The petition should only be filed if the person to be evaluated is, as a result of mental disorder, a danger to others, or to himself or herself, or gravely

disabled, and that the person will not voluntarily receive evaluation or crisis intervention. (§ 5202, emphasis added.) The superior court judge shall order the evaluation when it appears that the person is, as a result of mental disorder, a danger to others, or to himself or herself, or gravely disabled, and the person has refused or failed to accept evaluation voluntarily. (§ 5206.) If, after evaluation, the person has been deemed to be, as a result of a mental disorder, a danger to others, or to himself or herself, or gravely disabled, they may be detained and treated in an appropriate facility for another 72-hours. (§ 5213, subd. (a).)

3. 14-day evaluation and treatment

If a person who has been detained for crisis intervention for 72-hours under section 5150, or an additional 72-hours for court-ordered evaluation under section 5200, the person may be held for treatment for an additional 14-days, if after evaluation the person has been found to be, as a result of a mental health disorder or impairment by chronic alcoholism, a danger to others, or to himself or herself, or gravely disabled (§ 5250, subd. (a)) and the person has been advised of the need for, but has not been willing or able to accept, treatment on a voluntary basis. (§ 5250, subd. (c).) The professionals seeking to extend the person's commitment are required to certify, in part, that the person has been informed of this evaluation, and has been advised of the need for, but has not been able or willing to accept treatment on a voluntary basis, or to accept referral to, certain specified services. (§ 5252.)

4. Administrative or judicial review

The person who is involuntarily committed for an additional 14 days, is entitled to an administrative review hearing (§§ 5254, 5256–5256.5), on whether he or she meets the criteria for extended treatment. In the alternative, the person for whom further evaluation is sought may request judicial review in the superior court via a petition of habeas corpus under section 5275, et seq., either before (§§ 5254.1, 5256) or after the administrative review hearing (§ 5256.7).

If the court finds, that the person requesting release is not, as a result of mental disorder or impairment by chronic alcoholism, a danger to others, or to himself or herself, or gravely disabled, that he or she had not been advised of, or had accepted, voluntary treatment, or that the facility providing intensive treatment is not equipped and staffed to provide treatment or is not designated by the county to provide intensive treatment, he or she shall be released immediately. (§ 5276.) This is an element to be proven by the government by a preponderance of the evidence. The preponderance of the evidence standard of proof satisfies constitutional due process, in part, because it is for a relatively short period of time. (*In re Azzarella, supra*, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1247.)

A person certified for a period of intensive treatment under section 5250 shall be released at the end of 14 days *if the patient* agrees to further treatment on a voluntary basis. (§ 5257, subd. (b)(1).)

5. 30-day Extension of Extensive Involuntary Treatment

Should the government seek to extend involuntary treatment beyond the 14-day evaluation period (§ 5250, subd. (a)), the person may be certified for an additional period of not more than 30 days of intensive treatment if the professional staff of the agency or facility treating the person has found that the person remains gravely disabled as a result of a mental disorder or impairment by chronic alcoholism and that the person remains unwilling or unable to accept treatment voluntarily. (§ 5270.15, subd. (a).) The person must be released from the treatment facility before the 30-days if the treating professional believes the person is prepared to voluntarily accept treatment on a referral basis or to remain in the facility for intensive treatment on a voluntary basis. (§ 5270.35, subds. (a), (b)(1).)

The person again is permitted to challenge this 30-day extension through administrative review (§ 5256) or petition of habeas corpus in the superior court (§ 5275, et seq.) The government carries the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. (*In re Azzarella, supra,* 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1247.)

The legislature explained its intent in revising the chapter on extended treatment beyond the periods of initial evaluation in section 5270.10.

"It is the intent of the Legislature to reduce the number of gravely disabled persons for whom conservatorship petitions are filed and who are placed under the extensive powers and authority of a temporary conservator simply to obtain an additional period of treatment without the belief that a conservator is actually needed and without the intention of proceeding to trial on the conservatorship petition. This change will substantially reduce the number of conservatorship petitions filed and temporary conservatorships granted under this part which do not result in either a trial or a conservatorship."

6. One-Year Conservatorship

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