Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court
Electronically FILED on 8/4/2020 by Tao Zhang, Deputy Clerk

S258212

FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S258212

PUBLIC GUARDIAN OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, *Petitioner and Respondent*,

v.

K. P., Objector and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Two No. B291510

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. ZE032603 Robert Harrison

Answer Brief on the Merits

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

(Davis, supra, 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 319.)

The Public Guardian in *Davis* cited *Conservatorship of Buchanan* (1978) 78 Cal.App.3d 281 (Buchanan), disapproved in

Conservatorship of Early (1983) 35 Cal.3d 244, 255, (Davis, supra., 124 Cal. App. 3d at 320.) In Buchanan the conservatee argued that the court should have instructed the jury that a person was not gravely disabled where third parties could provide the basic necessities of life. The court in Buchanan looked to the plain language of section 5008, subd. (h)(1)(A).

The *Buchanan* Court stated "[t]here is no language in the statute to indicate that where third parties can provide the basic necessities of life that no 'grave disability' exists." (*Buchanan*, *supra*, 78 Cal.App.3d at p. 289.) It held the trial court did not commit error in refusing to provide the requested jury instruction. (*Id.* at p. 291.)

The *Davis C*ourt rejected the conclusion and the statutory analysis in *Buchanan*. In *Davis* the Court began its analysis by citing principles of statutory construction as stated in *Moyer v*. *Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd*. (1973) 10 Cal.3d 222, 230–231 [110 Cal. Rptr. 144].

"We begin with the fundamental rule that a court 'should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law.' [Citation.] In determining such intent '[the] court turns first to the words themselves for the answer.' [Citation.] We are required to give effect to statutes 'according to the usual, ordinary import of the language employed in framing them.' [Citation] 'If possible, significance should be given to every word, phrase, sentence and part of an act in pursuance of legislative purpose.' [Citation.] '[A] construction making some words surplusage is to be avoided.' [Citation.] 'When used in a statute [words] must be construed in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute where they appear.' [Citations.] Moreover,

the various parts of a statutory enactment must be harmonized by considering the particular clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole." [Citations omitted]

(*Davis*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 321.)

The *Davis* court turned to section 5001 as indicia of Legislative intent in the enactment of the LPS Act. (*Davis*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 321.) The *Davis* court then looked at various parts of the LPS Act to construct a statutory framework for its analysis. (*Id.* at p. 322.)

"Next, looking to the various parts of the act for the purpose of harmonizing section 5008, subdivision (h)(1) in the context of the statutory framework as a whole, we note that section 5352 provides that a petition to establish a conservatorship shall be filed only after a preliminary determination has been made that the person is gravely disabled as a result of mental disorder *and* is unwilling, or incapable of accepting, treatment voluntarily."

(Davis, supra, 124 Cal. App. 3d at p. 321, Italics in the original)

The *Davis C*ourt returned to its critique of *Buchanan* while noting that precluding the jury to consider the issue of third party assistance would infringe on the proposed conservatee's due process rights. (*Davis, supra.*, 124 Cal. App. 3d at p. 323.) Even so, the *Davis* court acknowledged that it shared *Buchanan's* view that the statutory scheme was important in analyzing the issue.

"While we agree with the *Buchanan* court that the structure of the LPS Act provides for a purposeful

separation of the adjudication and placement of the gravely disabled person, we differ from Buchanan in that we determine the need for an LPS conservator of nondangerous individual is part of the adjudication process. This determination is to be made by the trial judge or jury on the timely demand of the person for whom the conservatorship is proposed. The placement of the conservatee is made after LPS conservatorship is proposed. The placement of the conservatee is made after the LPS conservatorship is imposed in accordance with section 5358 and its subdivisions and provides (§ 5350 subd. (c)) for the placement in the least restrictive placement. That is a very and distinct matter from the adjudication part of the process, and may not be confused with it, constitutionally or under the terms of the LPS Act.

Sections 5001 et. seq., necessarily require the trier of act (the jury in the case at bench) to determine the question of grave disability, not in a vacuum, but in the context of suitable alternative, upon a consideration of the willingness and capability of the proposed conservatee to voluntarily accept treatment and upon consideration of whether the nondangerous person is capable of surviving in freedom by himself or with the help of willing and responsible family members, friends or other third parties. (See, O'Conner v. Donaldson (1975) 422 U.S. 563, 573–576 [45 L.Ed. 2d 396, 405–407, 95 S.Ct. 2486].)"

(Davis, supra, 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 325.)(Emphasis added.)
The United States Supreme Court case of O'Conner v.
Donaldson (1975) 422 U.S. 563 cited in Davis had already supported the principle of third party assistance.

"In short, a State cannot constitutionally confine with more a nondangerous individual who is capable of surviving safely in freedom by himself or with the help of willing and responsible family members or friends."

O'Conner v. Donaldson, supra, 422 U.S. at p. 577.

The *Davis* Court's citation to and reliance on United States Supreme Court opinion *O'Conner v. Donaldson* is readily understandable. The United States Supreme Court's decision undoubtedly sanctioned the continued emergence of the third party assistance rule. However, there is no United States Supreme Court decision that has addressed the willingness and capability of a nondangerous individual to voluntarily accept treatment as a requirement to establish a conservatorship.

The *Davis C*ourt acknowledged that a proposed jury instructions should be given where the evidence at trial provided a factual basis for the requested instructions.

"We accordingly hold that a person sought to be made an LPS conservatee subject to involuntary confinement in a mental institution, is entitled to have a unanimous jury determination of all of the questions involved in the imposition of such a conservatorship, and not just on the issue of grave disability in the narrow sense of whether he or she can safely survive in freedom and provide food, clothing or shelter unaided by willing, responsible relatives, friends or appropriate third parties.

These questions which the nondangerous person proposed for such conservatorship is entitled to have considered by the jury were included in instructions 2 and 2a which the court gave the jury. We accordingly hold that the trial court committed no prejudicial error in giving those two instructions."

(*Davis*, *supra*., 124 Cal.App.3d at p. 329.)

The *Davis* decision turned on the ordinary application of principles governing proposed jury instructions. Its reasoning also laid the foundation for other leading cases in this area.

b. Conservatorship of Early.

The California Supreme Court case of *Conservatorship of Early, supra*, 35 Cal.3d 244 [197 Cal. Rptr. 539] was next in the line of leading cases. *Early*, like *Davis*, also involved an initial petition for appointment. *Early*, unlike *Davis*, involved facts showing a trial court that had refused to admit evidence of the availability of the help of family and friends to assist the proposed conservatee in meeting his basic needs. (*Id.* at p. 248.)

The *Early* opinion cited and discussed *Buchanan*, *supra*., 78 Cal. App. 3d 281, *Davis*, *supra*, 124 Cal. App. 3d 313, and *Conservatorship of Wilson* (1982) 137 Cal. App. 3d 132.

"The conclusion reached in Davis was recently adopted by *Conservatorship of Wilson* (1982) 137 Cal. App. 3d 132 [186 Cal. Rptr. 748]. In *Wilson*, the appellate court cited *Davis* and held it was error to instruct the jury that a person is gravely disabled if he or she is unable, "unassisted," to provide for his or her basic personal needs. (Citation omitted.) The court cited *Davis* and added that in modern society no one lives completely independently of everyone and everything. It was therefore too much to ask a proposed conservatee to do so. (Citation omitted.)

We are in accord with *Davis* and *Wilson*. One of the stated purposes of the LPS Act is "[t]o end the inappropriate indefinite, and involuntary

commitment of mentally disordered persons. . . and to eliminate legal disabilities." (§5001, subd. (a).) To this end, the law must "strive to make certain . . . only those truly unable to take care of themselves are being assigned conservators under the LPS Act and committed to mental hospitals against their will." (Roulet, supra. 23 Cal. 3d at p. 225.) We agree with Wilson that it is unreasonable to force the conservatee to prove he or she is capable of an entirely independent existence and suggest there are few members of the general public who are capable of such an existence. (footnote omitted.) We all depend, to varying degrees on the assistance of others (e.g. parents, mechanics, the farmer, the tailor) to make our way in the world. Where willing and responsible others are able to assist a person in providing for his or her basic personal needs the person is not, in our view, "truly unable to take care of [himself or herself]." (Id at. P. 225.) Moreover, in such a situation the necessity of state intervention as a provider of these basic needs is reduced, thereby fulfilling another purpose of the LPS Act, "to prevent duplication of services and unnecessary expenditures." (§ 5001, subd. (f), Italics added in original)

Conservatorship of Early, supra, 35 Cal.3d at pp. 251–252.

The California Supreme Court in *Early* did not have the occasion to address a jury instruction on Element 3. The conservatee in *Early* had consistently refused treatment. (*Early*, *supra*, 35 Cal.3d at pp. 255–256.) However, the California Supreme Court in *Early* anticipated problems of proof in connection with the third party assistance rule that apply equally to Element 3.

"We conclude [that] the definition of the phrase "gravely disabled" as a condition in which the person

is "unable to provide for his basic personal needs for food, clothing, or shelter..."(§ 5008, subd. (h)(1)) was intended to encompass a consideration of whether the person could provide these basic needs with or without the assistance of willing and responsible family members, friends, or other third parties. (Davis, supra, [124 Cal. App.3d] at p. 325.) We readily acknowledge, however, that the burden of proving grave disability so defined could well become insuperable if those alleging such disability had to negate all reasonable doubts as to the possible existence of third party aid. (See, Roulet, supra, 23 Cal. 3d at pp. 225–226.) It would be particularly ironic to impose the frequently impossible duty of proving a negative (here, the nonexistence of third party aid) where the consequence of a failure of such proof could well deny care to a person whose need therefor may be demonstrated clearly or convincingly, but not beyond a reasonable doubt. In the absence of evidence that third party assistance *might* be available, allowing speculation as to that availability by the trier of fact to defeat a finding of grave disability would contravene the purposes of the LPS Act in this context. Knowledge of the availability of third party assistance normally would be in the possession of the proposed conservatee or those acting on his or her behalf. However, they are not necessarily the exclusive sources of such information. and we see no need to cast the burden of adducing evidence of third party assistance on any particular party to these proceedings. Rather, we hold only that the trier of fact on the issue of grave disability must consider the availability of third party assistance to meet the basic needs of the proposed conservatee for food, clothing or shelter only if credible evidence of such assistance is adduced from any source at the trial of the issue. If the fact-

finder is a jury, it must be so instructed under these circumstances if so requested by the proposed conservatee."

(Early, supra, 35 Cal.3d at p. 254, emphasis added.)

The Supreme Court's *Early* decision was concerned with creating an insuperable burden of proof through redefining "grave disability" in terms of the third party assistance rule. The problem arising from the potential burden "to negate all reasonable doubts as to the possible existence of third party aid." The Supreme Court resolved this threat by holding that the jury instruction must be considered only if credible evidence of third party support is adduced at trial and the appropriate jury instruction is requested by the proposed conservatee. (*Early*, *supra*, 35 Cal.3d 244.) Element 3 presents a similar problem.

c. Conservatorship of Walker.

Next in the line of cases was Conservatorship of Walker (1987) 95 Cal.App.3d 1082 (Walker.) Walker involved the initial petition for appointment. (Id. at p. 1088.) The Walker case involved an erroneous jury instruction that advised the jury that a conservatorship may not be imposed only if a person can provide for his or her basic needs and is willing to accept treatment. (Id. at p. 1092.) In Walker, the jury instruction was problematic because the jury could have erroneously found the proposed conservatee gravely disabled because he was unwilling to accept treatment even though he could otherwise provide for himself. (Id. at p. 1093.)

The Walker court identified the discrete stages leading up to the filing of the petition when it wrote:

The LPS Act permits a conservatorship to be recommended when a professional person determines an individual is both (1) gravely disabled and (2) unwilling or incapable of voluntarily accepting treatment. (§5352.) One is gravely disabled when unable to provide for basic personal needs for food, clothing, or shelter. (§ 5008, subd. (h).) It follows that if persons provided for their basic personal needs (i.e. are not gravely disabled) or are able to voluntarily accept treatment, there is no need for a conservatorship. (Id. at p. 1092, emphasis in original.)

In reliance on *Davis*, the Walker Court reasoned that the LPS conservatorship would not be needed if the evidence demonstrated the person could provide for his or her basic needs or was able to voluntarily accept treatment. Either one of these conditions, if found to be true by the trier of fact, would avoid the establishment of the LPS conservatorship.

"In *Davis*, the jury was instructed essentially as follows: (1) An individual who could survive safely alone or with help, was not gravely disabled. (2) Before considering whether one is gravely disabled, the person must be found to be unwilling or unable to voluntarily accept treatment. A person capable and willing to make a meaningful commitment to a plan of treatment, is not gravely disabled. (*Id.* at p. 319.) The instructions in *Davis* properly told the jury that proof of either of the two alternatives was sufficient to avoid a conservatorship. (See also *Conservatorship of Baber* (1984) 153 Cal. App. 3d 542, 552 [200 Cal. Rptr. 22].)" (Emphasis added.)

(*Walker*, *supra*, 95 Cal.App.3d 1082.)

In *Walker*, the conservatee had admitted he would not take medications, consequently and in light of other evidence, the *Walker Court* found the instructional error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Walker*, *supra*, 95 Cal.App.3d at p. 1095.)

d. Conservatorship of Symington.

Conservatorship of Symington, supra., 209 Cal.App.3d 1464 was the last in the line of leading cases. It reevaluated anew all of the other leadings cases. (*Ibid.*) The *Symington* case involved the initial petition for appointment. In Symington, the conservatee waived her right to a jury trial and the matter was tried before the court. (*Id.* at p. 1465.) During the court trial, Symington's counsel and the court had a colloquy whether it was necessary for the court to determine whether the conservatee was unwilling or unable to accept treatment despite the undisputed testimony that she was unable to make a meaningful judgment or give informed consent to treatment. (*Id.* at p. 1466.) On appeal the conservatee sought a reversal on the grounds that the trial court erred because it did not make a finding that the conservatee was unwilling or unable to voluntarily accept treatment for her mental illness. (*Id.* at p. 1467.) The county counsel, the prevailing party below, agreed that the trial court had erred but countered that the error was harmless. (*Ibid.*) The Symington Court disagreed with both counsel and found that the trial judge was correct. (*Ibid.*)

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